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INTRODUCTION


The Great War. The World War. The War to End All Wars. The conflict we know today as World War I was so bloody, horrifying, and destructive that when it was over no superlative seemed to do it justice. It raged from 1914 to 1918 and left ten million people dead, twenty million wounded, and the stage set for another, even more ghastly world war. It left Europe shattered and the whole world shaken. The First World War was also an immensely important event in American history. It was the nation’s first major overseas war, and made the United States the world’s most powerful country. It was also one of America’s bloodiest conflicts. According to official statistics, 116,627 Americans died in the war and another 204,002 were wounded. Only the Civil War and World War II resulted in more American casualties—and U.S. involvement in World War I lasted only eighteen months.


It is odd, then, that today World War I barely registers in the minds of most Americans. Battles like Belleau Wood or the Argonne Forest were once seared into the nation’s consciousness, and seemed destined to be spoken of in the same breath as Lexington and Concord or the Alamo. Today, few Americans know much of anything about them. Americans have long demonstrated a willingness to travel to get in touch with their history, especially when it comes to the places their countrymen have fought and died. The Civil War battlefields of Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, alone attract three million visitors annually. For many Americans, no trip to France is complete without a stop at the D-Day beaches of Normandy. Even in the tropical vacationland of Hawaii, where people go to escape their cares, millions make the pilgrimage to Pearl Harbor and pay homage to the victims of the USS Arizona. Sadly, few put the Meuse-Argonne or Saint-Mihiel on their travel itineraries anymore. Browsing the shelves of any bookstore today, one can find numerous guides to the battlefields of the Civil War or World War II, but very few dedicated to World War I, and almost none specifically about the American experience in that conflict. 


America and World War I: A Traveler’s Guide is for those who wish to follow in the footsteps of the Doughboy—as the American soldier of the First World War was known. (The term’s exact origins are unclear, but one common explanation stretches back to the late 1840s—namely, the doughlike dust that settled on U.S. forces as they marched through dry terrain during the Mexican-American War. Other possible origins include the large, globular buttons on nineteenth-century army uniforms, the dough that soldiers cooked while in the field, and the clay that soldiers used to polish their belt buckles and buttons.) It is a guide to the places the American soldiers themselves traveled during their tragic adventure, and to the monuments and memorials that sprouted up in their wake. But this book is meant to be more than just a travel guide. To help travelers better understand and appreciate the significance of the places they visit, it is also a history of the American experience in the Great War, focusing on the individuals who served, fought, and died. It incorporates the perspectives and insights of historians who study the conflict, but more importantly, it also gives voice to the Doughboys themselves. Through their letters, diaries, and memoirs, the Doughboys describe the places they visited, the way they saw the war, and how they felt about it. Soldiers were not the only ones who served, of course. The U.S. Navy did more that its fair share to achieve victory, for example, and service organizations like the Red Cross and the Young Men’s Christian Association were often right up with the soldiers at the front. This book tells their stories, too. 


Any travel guide to World War I must inevitably cover battlefields. In 1923, Congress established the American Battle Monuments Commission (ABMC) to mark the sites of America’s most important Great War battles. During the 1920s and 1930s, the commission placed ten memorials across the Western Front, ranging from grandiose monuments to a small memorial plaque. The ABMC also erected memorials in Gibraltar and in Brest, France, ports from which U.S. Navy sailors conducted combat patrols. In addition to the memorials, the ABMC is also responsible for overseas military cemeteries. When the First World War ended, there were at least 75,636 American dead buried at as many as 1,700 places across Europe, from makeshift battlefield cemeteries to individual burials in remote fields and local graveyards. After the war, the federal government consolidated the dead. Families were given the option of having their loved ones reinterred in an overseas military cemetery, returned to the United States (at government expense) to be laid to rest in their hometowns, or left where they were. Most families opted to bring them home. On Memorial Day 1937, the ABMC officially dedicated eight overseas cemeteries in three countries, where 30,921 American soldiers and sailors now lie. In their memorialization efforts, the ABMC spared no expense. History’s greatest war seemed to demand the greatest of all memorials. The commission engaged some of the top artists and architects on both sides of the Atlantic, who designed buildings and grounds of lasting, touching beauty. The Western Front from Belgium to the Swiss border is marked by a poignant trail of memorials and cemeteries. Those of the United States are among the most noteworthy and moving of them all. 


But the ABMC cemeteries and memorials are just the start. Monuments to the Doughboy went up almost immediately after the armistice of November 11, 1918, that ended the war. Before leaving for home, several U.S. Army divisions placed small markers tracing their progress across France. Most are still there. Others, too, sought to recognize the American fighting man. The cities and towns the Doughboys liberated from German occupation erected heartfelt and grateful monuments to them. The governments of various U.S. states marked the places where their citizen-soldiers fought and died. Service organizations like the Red Cross and veterans groups, and sometimes even private families, built their own memorials. 


Indeed, there were so many memorials being erected in the decades following the war that the ABMC actively discouraged the placement of any more of them, and even called for some to be demolished, concerned that battlefields overcrowded with monuments would appear undignified. Over the past century, some of these memorials have fallen into disrepair. A few have even been destroyed. Veterans’ organizations and patriotic societies still maintain scores of them, and have even constructed new ones in recent years in time for the hundredth anniversary of the Great War. Small towns across Europe also maintain the memorials to America’s World War I soldiers. Francophobia runs rampant in many quarters in the United States today, but small hamlets across France still care for Doughboy memorials with honor and affection, even if most Americans have forgotten about them. 


Unlike many war-related travel guides, this book will move beyond the battlefield and explore the Doughboy’s world behind the lines. Here the echoes of the war are more faint, but no less significant. Thousands of American soldiers served in rear areas during the war, and there are monuments big and small to them well behind the Western Front. Many cities, like the tourist meccas of London and Paris, are filled with places that were once U.S. hospitals, offices, or leave centers. Small towns and villages have them, too. Some of these buildings bear plaques noting their World War I connection. Most do not. The Americans inadvertently left scores of monuments behind. The U.S. Army constructed countless engineering works like roads and dams across Europe, some of them gigantic in scope. Their remnants are often still on the landscape, and in some cases still in use. Monuments away from the Western Front can be every bit as impressive as those on the battlefields. Scotland’s Isle of Islay hosts one of the most evocative of all. Two troopships sunk off the island in 1918, killing more than 500 Americans. Soon after the war, the American Red Cross built a memorial tower in a field of heather on a rocky, windswept cliff overlooking the sea where one of the ships went down. Perhaps no war memorial anywhere in the world is more beautifully situated. 


The traveler need not go abroad to appreciate America’s Great War heritage. Legacies of the Great War are hidden in plain sight all across the United States. Training camps, for example, not only turned civilians into soldiers, but also left a profound mark on American society and culture. A draftee named Irving Berlin wrote some of the war’s most memorable songs at one training camp, while another may have spawned the great influenza epidemic that ravaged the planet during and immediately after the war. Great War training camps sometimes evolved into important U.S. military installations. Others are now ordinary residential areas. Today thousands of Americans live on the grounds of Great War training camps, perhaps only dimly aware of the historical significance of their own backyards. 


Indeed, Great War history can turn up in the most unexpected places. One of the most scenic hiking trails in Washington State’s Olympic National Park, for example, has its origins with World War I aircraft production. There are World War I memorials in the United States every bit as spectacular as those in Europe, and even a few battlefields, though nothing approaching the likes of those on the Western Front. Tensions along the U.S.-Mexico border led to some Great War-related skirmishes in the deserts of the American Southwest, for example, and one small Massachusetts town even had an encounter with a German submarine. 


Chapters are arranged chronologically, so as to follow the Doughboys through their wartime experiences. The book begins with an exploration of how and why the United States got involved the Great War, and then follows the soldiers from training camps to the battlefields and back again. Appendices provide a list of museums and historic sites—most of which are described in the text—that preserve the Great War heritage of the American soldier and sailor, as well as a select bibliography. The text gives heights and distances in the measurement system most commonly used in the country being described. The English system is used for Great Britain and the United States, and metric measurements for all other countries. 


It has now been a century since the First World War. Though the history-minded traveler often overlooks this conflict, those who venture down the road the Doughboy walked will discover some of the most fascinating and significant places they are ever likely to encounter.








CHAPTER 1: 
THE ROAD TO WAR


“You will be home before the leaves have fallen from the trees,” Germany’s Kaiser Wilhelm II told his soldiers as they marched off to war in the summer of 1914. The assassination of Austria-Hungary’s Archduke Franz Ferdinand at the hands of a Serbian nationalist in Sarajevo on June 28, 1914, triggered Europe’s first general war in almost a century. Europe had enjoyed decades of relative peace before 1914, but the Great War had been brewing for decades. The flames of nationalism and ethnic hatred burned across the continent. Ethnic groups that fell under the domination of larger empires struggled for independence, but nationalism also led to tensions between the continent’s major powers, which were in constant competition for power and influence. Nationalist passion led to the unification of Germany in 1871, which upset the delicate balance of power that had reigned since the end of Napoleon. In an attempt to reestablish that balance, European nations entered into alliances with countries that had similar interests, concerns, fears, and hatreds. The assassination of Franz Ferdinand brought these nationalist tensions to the surface and triggered the alliance system. With the promise of German support, Austria threatened war against Serbia. Russia mobilized against Austria to protect its diminutive ally, which led Germany down the road to war with Russia. France then mobilized against Germany to honor its commitments to Russia. Germany’s invasion of neutral Belgium on its way into France sparked British intervention. In the blink of an eye, Europe had gone to war, as the Central Powers (Germany, Austria-Hungary, and Turkey) fought the Allies (France, Great Britain, Russia, and, later, Italy). As European nations brought their overseas empires into the fray, the European conflict became the World War.


The Kaiser’s prediction of a short war proved dreadfully wrong, but he was not alone in thinking so. Few expected a long conflict. Dreaming of martial glory, Europe’s young men patriotically rushed to recruiting stations fearful they would miss out on all the action. But events defied such optimism. The sides were evenly matched, and neither could gain an advantage over the other. On the Eastern Front, the combatant nations hammered away at each other inconclusively, but it was on the Western Front in France that the war took on its most fearsome dimensions. Britain and France halted Germany’s invasion just short of Paris at the Battle of the Marne in September 1914, and it was an extremely bloody affair. Machine guns and modern artillery increased the killing power of armies dramatically, and with industrialization these weapons appeared on the battlefield in great abundance. To protect themselves, soldiers on both sides dug in, and a vast complex of trenches emerged all across the Western Front, from the North Sea to the Swiss border. The leaves fell from the trees that autumn, but the soldiers had not gone home. Instead, they found themselves locked in a muddy, bloody stalemate. Each side tried mass infantry assaults to break through enemy lines, but they almost never worked. On the first day of the Somme Offensive, in July 1916, Britain lost 20,000 soldiers, but could not break through the German lines. That same year at Verdun, the French and the Germans lost nearly a million men combined, and each side had precious little to show for it. The Great War battlefields became the scene of little more than mechanized slaughter.


Four thousand miles away on the other side of the Atlantic Ocean, the United States watched the events unfolding in Europe with a sense of detachment. Americans had long believed that the oceans insulated them from the world’s problems, and the war in Europe did not seem like any of their business. Most Americans paid little attention to foreign affairs. Granted, even in the late nineteenth century there were a few influential Americans, mainly wealthy Easterners, who pushed for an imperialistic foreign policy to show that the United States could keep up with its European economic competitors. In the Spanish-American War of 1898, the United States acquired Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Philippines. Hawaii came under formal American control that year, too, and the United States joined the imperial club. But Americans were by and large half-hearted imperialists, and paid much more attention to domestic affairs. The first two decades of the twentieth century comprised the heyday of the Progressives—political reformers who believed in the efficacy of government to solve problems and improve society. President Theodore Roosevelt, the Republican occupant of the White House from 1901 to 1909, gained the nickname “the trust buster” for breaking up corporate monopolies. He guided the nation through a wide range of other reforms, including consumer protection laws, irrigation projects to develop the West, and the protection of forests and wilderness areas. His successor, Democrat Woodrow Wilson, was also a Progressive, creating the Federal Reserve to shore up the nation’s banking system, policing corporate behavior, providing aid to farmers, expanding America’s highway system, and implementing a national income tax—just to name just a few of his accomplishments. 


When it came to the war in Europe, President Wilson urged his countrymen to be “neutral in thought as well as action,” but as the war dragged on and the casualties mounted, some Americans took sides. Most sympathized with the Allies. Ties of language, culture, and, in many cases, blood, connected Britain and America. France, the nation that aided the fledgling United States during its struggle for independence in the eighteenth century, also had a special place in the hearts of many Americans. Britain and France had representative governments and shared America’s basic political values, whereas the Central Powers all had autocratic monarchies. German blunders, like the invasion of neutral Belgium, further elicited pro-Allied sentiments. The Central Powers, by contrast, had few supporters. Many German Americans sympathized with the Old Country, and sometimes raised money for German war relief. A few even returned to Germany to fight. Irish Americans, resentful of Britain’s occupation of their island homeland, had no particular sympathy for Germany, but hoped that the weakening of British power might lead to the independence of Ireland. Very few Americans advocated entry into the war, but most hoped that the Allies would ultimately prevail.


 Even more important than America’s sentimental attachments to the Allies were its economic ties to them. Soon after it entered the war, Great Britain imposed a naval blockade on Germany, and the Royal Navy—the most powerful force afloat—enforced it with great vigor and effectiveness. American trade with Germany plummeted from $345 million in 1914 to $29 million in 1915 and just $2 million by 1916. Wilson claimed that as a neutral nation the United States had a right to trade with Germany and dutifully complained to the British, but Americans soon found that the trade it lost with Germany was more than offset by increased trade with the Allies. Britain and France wanted all kinds of things from America—chemicals, cotton, foodstuffs, steel—and when they ran out of cash, U.S. banks loaned them $2.3 billion so they could keep on buying. Indeed, American exports to those two countries jumped from $754 million in 1914 to $2.75 billion in 1916. Access to U.S. markets gave the Allies a significant advantage over the Central Powers. While the German economy slowly crumbled under the weight of the British blockade, the Allies received a steady stream of supplies from America—a fact that did not escape the attention of German leaders. 


As the war continued month after bloody month, each side sought new “wonder weapons” to punch a hole in enemy lines and break the stalemate. All combatants used chemical weapons, for example. Usually delivered by artillery shells, these weapons came in many forms. Chlorine and phosgene gas asphyxiated. Mustard gas burned and blistered. Chemical warfare resulted in many horrifying and gruesome deaths, but simple countermeasures like the gas mask—ubiquitous with soldiers on the Western Front—rendered them less than decisive. In 1916, the British introduced an armored vehicle known as a “tank.” Though impervious to rifle and machine-gun fire, the slow-moving giants were still vulnerable to artillery and land mines, and broke down frequently. The airplane also came into its own as an instrument of war. Armies had long used observation balloons to peer behind enemy lines, but fixed-wing planes gave reconnaissance operations much more speed, mobility, and flexibility. Commanders soon found many other uses for aircraft. Planes could attack enemy troops in tactical battlefield situations. They could also be used strategically to strike infrastructure and industrial plants behind the lines to undermine the enemy economy. And they could be used to bomb civilians, a tactic that, some decision makers thought, might undermine public morale. Tanks and airplanes showed more promise than chemical weapons, but commanders had to learn how best to employ them through a long and bloody process of trial and error.


 World War I also saw the first major use of submarines. The idea of underwater naval craft had been around for a long time, but by the early twentieth century technological advances allowed submarines to dive deeper, stay under water longer, travel farther, and carry more ordnance. For Germany, unable to defeat the British Navy on the surface of the waters, the submarine, or “U-boat” (short for  Unterseeboot, or underwater boat), offered a way to strike back. In February 1915, Germany declared the seas around Great Britain a war zone. U-boats prowled just below the waves, and when they encountered Allied ships bringing goods into Britain they surfaced and sank them. Wilson complained that the German submarine campaign, like the British blockade, violated America’s rights as a neutral power, but given the volume of goods crossing that Atlantic to Allied ports, the threat Germany posed to the American economy was far greater. Not only was American property threatened, but U.S. citizens on Allied ships might also be injured or killed. Wilson warned Germany that it would be held to “strict accountability” for any loss of American life. 


Wilson’s concerns were well founded. On March 18, 1915, a U-boat sank the unarmed British cargo ship Falaba in the Irish Sea, killing more than 100 people, including an American engineer. The most shocking was the May 1915 sinking of the British passenger liner Lusitania. Part of the Cunard fleet, the Lusitania was one of the largest, fastest, and most luxurious ocean liners in the world. On May 1, the Lusitania pulled away from Pier 54 on Manhattan’s West Side and headed out into the Atlantic bound for Liverpool. In the days before its departure, the German government placed advertisements in American newspapers, reminding travelers that British waters were a “zone of war” and that any Allied ship sailing
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The RMS Lusitania. (Courtesy
 of the Library of Congress)



in them was “liable to destruction.” After a week at sea the Lusitania reached Ireland, and on the pleasant spring afternoon of May 7 was sixteen kilometers off the Old Head of Kinsale. Some passengers opened their portholes for fresh air. Others milled around the deck enjoying the spring sunshine and spectacular views of the rugged Irish coastline, unaware that a German submarine lurked nearby. At 2:10 PM, a torpedo slammed into the Lusitania’s starboard side, launching a geyser of water and debris into the air. Within minutes there was a second explosion, ripping a giant gash in the hull. The Lusitania sank in just eighteen minutes. Of the 1,959 people aboard, 1,195 lost their lives, including 128 Americans. Germany argued that the Lusitania was smuggling war goods was thus a legitimate target. Britain denied the charge, though it is now known that the ship was indeed carrying modest quantities of ammunition and other items destined for the Western Front. Debate still rages about just how much war material may have been on the ship, and who may have known about it.  


As with Pearl Harbor, the Kennedy assassination, or 9/11, Americans vividly recalled where they were and what they were doing when they heard the news of the Lusitania attack. “The event left an indelible memory not just because it was a great disaster,” wrote historian John Milton Cooper Jr., but because it “also raised for the first time the threat of American involvement in the war.” Calls for action came quickly and loudly. The New York Herald characterized the sinking as a “cold blooded, premeditated outrage on a colossal scale,” and demanded that President Wilson be true to his “strict accountability” pledge. “The sinking of the Lusitania was not only an act of simple piracy,” declared former president Theodore Roosevelt, “but it represented piracy accompanied by murder on a vaster scale than any old-time pirate had ever practiced before being hung for his misdeeds.” Roosevelt called for breaking diplomatic relations with Germany. A few American newspapers even wanted a declaration of war. Wilson did not see the incident as a casus belli, nor did the majority of Americans, but the president had to assert America’s rights as a neutral power. He issued a series of strongly worded diplomatic notes to Germany, demanding an apology and reparations. Some thought Wilson’s approach weak. Roosevelt complained that America could not confront Germany’s “blood and iron” with “milk and water.” On the other side of the spectrum, Wilson’s secretary of state, William Jennings Bryan, thought the president’s approach too belligerent. A devout Christian with a strong pacifist streak, Bryan resigned rather than risk war. 


 Further incidents on the high seas only intensified the debate. On August 19, 1915, a U-boat sunk the British passenger ship  Arabic. Among the dead were two Americans. The incident led to another wave of diplomatic protests from Washington. A month later, Germany issued the so-called “Arabic Pledge,” promising to warn passenger liners before attacking them, but Germany soon broke it. In March 1916, the ferryboat  Sussex  hit the bottom, and though no Americans were killed, several were injured. Wilson threatened to break off diplomatic relations with Germany unless it changed its behavior. “At this point,” wrote historian Jennifer Keene, “Germany decided that the drawbacks of the United States joining the Allied side outweighed the benefits of continuing to indiscriminately sink boats in the war zone.” Unwilling to take on yet another enemy, Germany made more promises. Under the terms of the “Sussex  Pledge,” Germany once again agreed to stop targeting passenger ships, and further agreed that before sinking merchant ships, it would stop them and remove the crew in order to spare lives. 


Trouble on America’s Southern Border


As tensions with Germany grew on the North Atlantic, trouble developed south of the border, in Mexico. The roots of this trouble stretched back years. After a disputed election in 1910, Francisco Madero had begun a revolution against the decades-long dictatorship of Porfirio Diaz. Madero’s promises of economic reform resonated with Mexico’s poor, and in 1911 he ousted Diaz from power. But when Madero’s promises failed to materialize, the revolution continued, and in 1913 he was killed in a coup led by General Victoriano Huerta. As the situation in Mexico deteriorated, the U.S. Army beefed up its posts along the U.S.-Mexico border, such as Fort Bliss, Texas, and Fort Huachuca, Arizona, and established a series of camps at important border crossings. The United States, with its long history of interfering in the affairs of Latin American countries, attempted to influence events in Mexico. Most countries accepted the Huerta regime as legitimate, but President Wilson refused, stating that he would not “recognize a government of butchers.” In 1914, a confrontation between the U.S. Navy and Huerta’s forces in Veracruz led to the American occupation of that city. Wilson also secretly aided a group of anti-Huerta revolutionaries known as the Constitutionalists, led by Venustiano Carranza. Among the Constitutionalists was the charismatic José Doroteo Arango Arámbula, better known by his nom de guerre, Francisco “Pancho” Villa. A staunch Madera supporter, Villa was suspicious of Carranza but hated Huerta more. Battling Huerta’s forces, Villa soon controlled Chihuahua and other areas of northern Mexico.
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 Pancho Villa. (Courtesy of the
 National Archives)



 Though he often funded his operations through extortion and banditry, Villa, who frequently donned a sombrero and bandoliers, was a romantic figure and had admirers north of the border. Indeed, he even received military support from the United States. 


 Carranza and his Constitutionalists forced Huerta from power in 1914, but the coalition soon fragmented. Villa and others believed that Carranza planned to make himself dictator and turned their guns on their former ally, plunging Mexico into further chaos. Villa, the only major revolutionary leader not to denounce the U.S. occupation of Veracruz, expected that his American support would continue. But as Carranza’s forces handed Villa a series of stinging defeats, Wilson granted Carranza diplomatic recognition. Indeed, the United States began to intervene on Carranza’s behalf. On November 1–2, 1915, Carranza’s forces defeated Villa at the Battle of Agua Prieta, just across the border from Douglas, Arizona. American support for  Carranza, such as transporting his soldiers by train through U.S. territory to get to the battlefield, was key to Villa’s defeat. As the battle raged in Agua Prieta, U.S. Army commanders across the border in Douglas braced for a possible attack. It never came, though a stray bullet crossed the border, killing one American soldier, Corporal Harry J. Jones. In February 1916, the army named its camp at Douglas in the unfortunate soldier’s honor. Camp Harry J. Jones kept watch on the U.S.-Mexican border throughout World War I, and remained an active U.S. Army installation until 1933. There is no sign of Camp Harry J. Jones today. It was located along the border on the southeast side of Douglas, roughly between Cavalry Cemetery and the airport. Much of the area today is residential or has returned to desert. 


Feeling that Uncle Sam had betrayed him, Villa turned on his former ally. In late November, 1915, his men skirmished with American troops at Nogales, Arizona, sometimes crossing the border into the United States to do so, and another U.S. soldier, Private Stephen D. Little, was killed. The army camp at Nogales was named for Little. A small monument on the grounds of Nogales’s city hall (777 North Grand Avenue) identifies the site of Camp Stephen D. Little. In January 1916, Villistas attacked a train near Santa Isabel, Chihuahua, and killed sixteen Americans on board. But Villa’s boldest move came two months later, with his cross-border raid on Columbus, New Mexico, on March 9, 1916. This prompted a U.S. military “punitive expedition” into Mexico to capture him and bring him to justice (see Chapter 2). The Carranza government, though no friend of Villa, objected strenuously to the Yankee incursion. By early 1917, the United States had managed to alienate both the Mexican rebels and the Mexican government, and there loomed the very real threat of a war on the southern border.


America Begins to Build its Military Muscle


Growing world tensions stimulated a sharp debate among Americans about military preparedness. Germany’s flagrant disregard for American rights, preparedness advocates argued, was the result of U.S. military weakness. While the U.S. Navy was a formidable force, second only to the British Royal Navy, the U.S. Army was pitifully small, with just 126,000 officers and men. The National Guard added only 80,000 more. Leading the charge for preparedness was one of America’s most distinguished soldiers, General Leonard Wood, a Medal of Honor recipient whose career included fighting in the Geronimo campaign in Arizona and the Spanish-American War. Harkening back to the days when all able-bodied men served in their local militia, Wood called for universal military training. He was especially concerned that the United States did not have enough competent officers to lead a mass army. As early as 1913, he organized military training camps for college students. In 1915 he expanded on the idea, setting up a camp for young business and professional men at the army barracks at Plattsburg (as per a common spelling at the time; today consistently “Plattsburgh”) in northern New York state, on the shores of Lake Champlain. More than 6,000 attended. Volunteers often came from the nation’s most powerful families. Unlike in later conflicts in which the wealthy systematically avoided military service, during the Great War America’s fortunate sons often flocked to the colors, seeing it as their patriotic duty to defend the nation and set an example for the rest of society. Among those who trained at Plattsburg were three of Teddy Roosevelt’s sons—Archibald, Quentin, and Theodore Jr. An emergency appendectomy prevented their cousin, Assistant Secretary of Navy Franklin D. Roosevelt, from attending.


Buoyed by the success of Wood’s camps, preparedness advocates formed the Military Training Camps Association (MTCA) in January 1916 to expand the training program. “To send untrained troops into the field is manslaughter,” the MTCA proclaimed, “but to dispatch troops with untrained leaders is murder in the first degree.” When the MTCA training camps opened in the summer of 1916, they were filled to capacity. The largest and most important took place at Plattsburg Barracks, and the training initiative was often referred to as the “Plattsburg Movement.” The trainees lived in a tent camp on the shores of Lake Champlain two miles south of Plattsburg. The views of Vermont’s Green Mountains to the east were spectacular, but the trainees had little time to enjoy them. General Wood insisted on a training regimen so rigorous that it “would make the regular army buck.” Reveille came at 5:45 AM. Calisthenics and drill occupied most mornings. Afternoons consisted of classes on military science and hands-on experience with weaponry. Camp conditions could be spartan. One trainee remembered that after a rainstorm the camp was “a big clay mud hole” and had “the odor of a first class pig pen.” When not in their tent camp, the trainees went out on long hikes, sometimes lasting more than a week, and staged mock battles in the shadow of the Adirondacks. Villages around Plattsburg—like Chazy, Dannemora, Keeseville, and Rouse’s Point—were taken and retaken in mock battles. “Plattsburg was definitely not an upper-class leisure resort,” concluded historian Michael Pearlman. In all, more than 16,000 attended the MTCA camps, 90 percent of whom eventually saw service in World War I.


The training camp was located between U.S. Avenue (U.S. Highway 9) and Lake Champlain. A residential street called the Nevada Oval now rounds through the old camp. The tents are long gone, of course, but much of the army post the trainees would have seen is still around. Red brick buildings, dating to the late nineteenth century, cluster around the old parade ground known as the U.S. Oval, where the trainees often drilled. One building, the Old Stone Barracks on the south end of the post, dates to the 1830s. After serving as an army post for more than a century, Plattsburg Barracks became Plattsburgh Air Force Base in 1955, and some of the fields where prospective officers staged mock battles in 1915 and 1916 became a runway for B-52 bombers. The base closed in 1995, and the area today comprises a mix of municipal facilities, private residences, and businesses. The airfield itself is now an oversized local airport. Some of the old military buildings near the intersection of U.S. Avenue and New York Road now host museums, among them the Clinton County Historical Museum, which occasionally has exhibits about the Plattsburg Movement.


Most Americans still wanted no part of the European War, but in the wake of the Lusitania sinking and the troubles in Mexico, increasing numbers saw wisdom in beefing up the nation’s defenses in other respects as well. Under the Naval Act of 1916, Congress authorized a major expansion in the number of ships in service, including battleships, cruisers, destroyers, and submarines. Proponents claimed this would make the American navy “second to none.” The most important action was, however, a separate piece of legislation the same year, the National Defense Act of 1916. Approved in June, it authorized an expansion of the regular army to 175,000 troops and the National Guard to 400,000. This law provided states with money to expand their National Guard forces, but also exerted more federal control over them. Guard soldiers faced more training time and could now be sent overseas, for example, and officers had to meet more stringent qualifications. The law also established an enlisted and officer reserve corps, and created the Reserve Officers Training Corps (ROTC), through which college students could obtain officer training and commissions. Other provisions included greater federal control over the nation’s economy in wartime, an expansion of the army’s engineering corps and fleet of airplanes, and the creation of the National Research Council to keep the army up to date on the newest technologies.


From Doctoring to Fighting—and Flying—for the Allies  


As Americans wrestled with the possibility of entering the Great War, several thousand of their countrymen and countrywomen were already overseas serving the Allied war effort, and in many cases even fighting. Americans went to the Western Front for a variety of reasons. Some simply wanted adventure, attracted by what they saw as the romance of war. Others strongly sympathized with the Allied cause. Like the Plattsburgers, those Americans who went to France tended to be wealthy and well-educated men and women from elite families, who had the means to travel overseas. 


 As German armies approached Paris in 1914, the American Hospital in Paris, located at 63 boulevard Victor Hugo in the suburb of Neuilly-sur-Seine, began taking in French casualties. The hospital soon became a rallying point for those Americans living in Paris who wanted to help France in her hour of need. American students studying in Paris volunteered their time, and wealthy businessmen provided money and medical supplies. In September 1914, the American Hospital in Paris set up a branch facility called the American Ambulance (in French military parlance, an  ambulance  is a hospital for ambulatory patients) in an unfinished school building at 21 boulevard d’Inkerman in Neuilly-sur-Seine, not far from the main facility. During the Battle of the Marne, as the sounds of battle reverberated through the streets of Paris, American volunteers evacuated wounded French soldiers from the front in donated Ford trucks hastily converted into ambulances. In 1915, an ambulance driver named A. Piatt Andrew arranged for American ambulance crews to work directly with the French military, and the American Field Service (AFS) was born. By 1916, AFS ambulances were evacuating wounded Allied soldiers all across the Western Front, from Belgium to the Vosges Mountains in eastern France. By early 1917 more than 2,500 Americans were working for the AFS. There were other opportunities to serve. Richard Norton, an American scholar in London, teamed up with French millionaire H. Herman Hartjes to form the Norton-Hartjes Ambulance Corps. In 1915, two American women, Isabel Lathrop and Anne Morgan (daughter of the Wall Street financier J.P. Morgan), organized the American Fund for the French Wounded (AFFW). Working out of a seventeenth-century chateau at Blérancourt in Picardy, the AFFW dispatched volunteers—nearly all of them women—to provide aid to wounded French soldiers and the hard-pressed civilians of France. French soldiers and civilians alike were often amazed to see intrepid female drivers of the AFFW delivering food and medical supplies to the areas just behind the front lines. 


Life at the front was dangerous, and though they were noncombatants, American medical volunteers were close enough to the action to be wounded and sometimes even killed. After the United States joined the war in 1917, many of the ambulance crews became part of the U.S. military. Even after U.S. entry into the war, young Americans continued to serve in volunteer ambulance organizations. For enthusiastic men who were too old for military service or who did not meet the physical requirements of the army, ambulance companies provided one way to get to the front. Among such adventurous young Americans serving with the American Red Cross in Italy was a near-sighted writer from Oak Park, Illinois, named Ernest Hemingway (see Chapter 16), who after the war became one of America’s greatest literary luminaries. Indeed, such ambulance corps attracted an unusually large number of individuals who would become important American cultural figures, among them writer John Dos Passos; the poet Edward Estlin Cummings, better known by his distinctively lower-case pen name, e.e. cummings; and cartoonist Walt Disney, whose animations revolutionized American popular culture. Among the AFFW volunteers were the expatriate American writer Gertrude Stein and her partner, Alice B. Toklas. Stein wrote of one trip to Perpignan, in southern France, to distribute “comfort bags” to wounded French soldiers. The soldiers were grateful, and Stein described her work as a “perpetual delight” and “a continuous Christmas.” 


The American Hospital in Paris still sees patients today, and the unfinished school in Neuilly-sur-Seine that hosted the American Ambulance is now the Lycée Pasteur. Many American ambulance companies served near Pont-à-Mousson in Lorraine, and when the city rebuilt after the war it paid tribute to the idealistic young Americans. Reconstruction plans called for the re-creation of an ornate seventeenth-century fountain at the place Duroc, in the center of town, but it was done with an American twist. The AFS financed the fountain, American architects William Bosworth and Roger Siegel designed it, and the fountain was dedicated to the volunteers killed in the area. Completed in 1931, it still dominates the place Duroc today. After the war, Anne Morgan purchased the Château de Blérancourt, from which the AFFW ran its operations, and converted it into a museum dedicated to Franco-American friendship. The Franco-American Museum of the Château de Blérancourt is presently closed for renovations.
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American Field Service Memorial, place Duroc, Pont-à-Mousson, France. 


 Yet other Americans signed up to fight in Allied armies. The sinking of the  Lusitania  outraged Arthur Guy Empey, an army recruiter in Jersey City, New Jersey. “The lights in the tall buildings of New York seemed to be burning brighter than usual,” he remembered of the May evening he got the news, “with anger and righteous indignation.” Empey expected a flood of young men clamoring to enlist, but in the weeks and months following the incident the recruiting papers on his desk, as he described it, were “covered with dust.” Outraged with the apathy of his countrymen, Empey sailed for England and joined the British Army. Wounded in the Battle of the Somme, he returned to the United States and published a book about his experiences entitled  Over the Top, which became a national sensation. Other Americans signed up for the French Foreign Legion, among them the poet Alan Seeger. After graduating from Harvard in 1910, Seeger went to New York’s Greenwich Village, where he penned his verse and pursued a bohemian existence. Unpublished, he moved to the Latin Quarter of Paris in 1912 and continued his directionless ways. When war came to France he enlisted in the French Foreign Legion, and was killed in the Battle of the Somme on July 4, 1916. After his death, his poetry was finally published.  


The French were grateful for the Americans who defended their country in the early years of the war, and in 1923—in the place des
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Monument to American
 Volunteers, Place des Ètats-
Unis, Paris, France.



États-Unis, a park in the 16th arrondissement of Paris that has been a symbol of Franco-American friendship since 1881—erected a monument to the American volunteers who died for their country. A statue of George Washington and the Marquis de Lafayette, the French nobleman who fought for the United States during  the American Revolution, has stood at the west end of this park since 1894. The memorial to the American volunteers graces the eastern end. On the front of the monument, a French soldier and an American volunteer reach out toward each other, holdings hands, while a winged angel embraces them both. On the reverse side are the names of several dozen Americans who died for France. It includes the names of thirty-four members of the American Field Service and twenty-four from the Foreign Legion. Among the names etched into the stone is Alan Seeger, whose poetry appears on the monument. A bronze statue of an American volunteer, based on a photograph of Seeger, caps the monument. After World War II, the names of three more Americans who volunteered for France and who died in that war were added.  


Most of the names on the monument—sixty-four in all—are of those who died in the most famous American volunteer group, the Lafayette Escadrille. A few of the wealthy young Americans living in Paris when the war broke out had flying experience, and volunteered for the French air forces. Turned down at first, they signed up for the French Foreign Legion or joined ambulance companies, but by 1915 the French allowed some of them to fly. Meanwhile, enthusiastic American pilots began arriving in France seeking admission to the Aéronautique Militaire, as the French air arm was then known. In 1916, a group of American fliers led by Harvard-trained lawyer Norman Prince founded the Escadrille Américain, an air squadron bringing all American pilots into a single unit. The Americans gathered at an airfield at Luxeuil-les-Bains in the Vosges Mountains in April 1916, and it did not take long for them to get into action. (The site remains a French military air base today.) Kiffin Rockwell got the squadron’s first kill on May 20, 1916, when he shot down a German observation plane over Hartmanswillerkopf in Alsace. Their first fatality came in June, when Victor Chapman lost his life in a dogfight over Verdun.


 The Germans objected to the  Escadrille Américain, claiming its existence was a violation of American neutrality. In response, the squadron changed its name to the Escadrille Lafayette, in honor of the Revolutionary War hero. Known back home as the Lafayette Escadrille, the daring young Americans captured their country’s imagination, and inspiring more young Americans to fly for France. A group of wealthy French and American businessmen created the Lafayette Flying Corps, which recruited still more American flyers and integrated them in French air squadrons. Whether in the Lafayette Escadrille or the Lafayette Flying Corps, American pilots flew all over the Western Front and participated in some the war’s most significant battles.  
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Lafayette Escadrille Memorial, 
Marnes-la-Coquette, France.



The wealthy and well-connected flyers inspired a number of monuments. Several in France are dedicated to a young American pilot named Ronald Wood Hoskier, who left his studies at Harvard in 1916 and served with the Norton-Hartjes Ambulance Company before making his way into the Lafayette Escadrille. He was shot down over Grugies, France, in April 1917. The town cemetery of Grugies, a small village just southwest of Saint-Quentin, has a monument to Hoskier. A cement pole on a granite base, it outlines the story of his death—in French. In Étalon, thirty-five kilometers away, the war memorial in the center of town also pays tribute to Hoskier, and the intersection it overlooks is called the place Ronald-Wood Hoskier. Stateside, there are at least two memorials to James Rogers McConnell, killed over Flavy-le-Martel in March 1917. One, an obelisk flanked with two cannon, is on the grounds of the Moore County Administration Building in Carthage, North Carolina, where McConnell once lived. Another, created by sculptor Gutzon Borglum (most famous for the presidential faces on Mount Rushmore), stands outside the Alderman Library at McConnell’s alma mater, the University of Virginia in Charlottesville—a helmeted figure with wings reaching for the heavens. 


Forty-eight members of the Lafayette Escadrille and the Lafayette Flying Corps are interred together at the Lafayette Escadrille Memorial in the Paris suburb of Marnes-la-Coquette. Nestled in a wooded park off boulevard Raymond Poincaré, the memorial is the work of French architect Alexandre Marcel. Dominating it is a stone archway, roughly half the size of the Arch de Triomphe in Paris, flanked by two porticoes and fronted with a reflecting pool. Dedications to the American flyers appear at the top of the arch—in French on the front and in English on the back. The names of the American pilots who died for France are engraved into the face of the arch, while the battles they flew in appear above the portico columns. From the center of the archway, two staircases, one marked “Lafayette” and the other “Washington,” descend to the crypts. Propellers, wings, and other symbols of flight appear in Marcel’s Art Deco friezes and relief sculptures, as do Lafayette and Washington. Marcel used the Indian Head emblem of the Lafayette Escadrille in the stonework as well, and there is also a mosaic of the emblem on the small plaza behind the memorial. It was dedicated on July 4, 1928, and the Lafayette Escadrille Memorial Foundation has maintained it ever since.
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Mosaic of Lafayette Escadrille emblem, Marnes-la-Coquette, France. The American flyers often used a swastika in their emblem, a Native American symbol of good luck.


America Joins the War 


In November 1916, Wilson was reelected president with the campaign slogan, “He kept us out of war.” But even before he could begin his second term, German leaders made a fateful decision. The limited submarine campaign, they concluded, was not sufficiently curtailing the flow of American supplies to the Allies. Only unrestricted submarine warfare, they concluded, would work. In fact, the German U-boat fleet had grown to more than 100 by early 1917, increasing their ability to sink ships. An intensified campaign, to include the targeting of American-flagged ships, they believed, could starve the British into submission within a year. Such a tactic was likely to draw the United States into the war, but the Germans had factored that into their thinking too. Aware of America’s lack of military preparedness, they calculated that it would take the United States two years to build up the army needed to fight a war. By that time the war in Europe would be won, they believed, and even if it was not, U-boats would prevent an American army from ever reaching European shores.


Beginning in February 1917, the U-boats struck with unprecedented force. At the same time, Germany hoped to exploit U.S.-Mexican tensions to their advantage. In January 1917, German foreign minister Arthur Zimmermann sent a secret message to the German ambassador in Mexico, Heinrich von Eckardt. “We intend to begin on the first of February unrestricted submarine warfare,” Zimmermann wrote. Should the United States join the war, von Eckardt was instructed to offer Mexico an alliance with Germany. The Germans promised Mexico “generous financial support,” as well as the return of Arizona, New Mexico, and Texas—seized by the United States during the nineteenth century—to Mexican sovereignty. The Carranza government dismissed the proposal, but even worse for Germany, the British intelligence service had intercepted the message, decoded it, and turned it over to the United States. Just as outrage at home grew over the U-boat campaign, the so-called “Zimmermann Telegram” hit Americans like a lightning bolt. Despite the twin provocations, noninterventionist sentiment was still high. America should keep its ships out of the war zone, some argued, and suspicion that the Zimmermann Telegram was a forgery was widespread. Though the American public was still deeply divided about the wisdom of going to war, unrestricted submarine warfare and the Zimmermann Telegram had edged American public opinion in favor of entering the conflict. 


 When President Wilson went before Congress on April 2, 1917 to ask for a declaration of war against Germany, he spelled out America’s motivations in highly idealistic terms. “We have no quarrel with the German people,” he said, only with the “little groups of ambitious men” in the German imperial government “who were accustomed to use their fellow men as pawns and tools.” The Great War was not about money or power, Wilson insisted, but rather about human freedom. Autocracy not only crushed liberty, Wilson believed, but led directly to instability and war. “Self-governed nations do not fill their neighbor states with spies,” he contended, “or set the course of intrigue to bring about some critical posture of affairs which will give them an opportunity to strike and make conquest.” German aggression not only threatened Americans, he argued, but the whole world, and the fate of freedom and representative government around the globe hung in the balance. “The world must be made safe for democracy,” Wilson proclaimed, and argued that American involvement in the Great War was the only way to make that happen. “Our motive will not be revenge or the victorious assertion of the physical might of the nation,” he said, “but only the vindication of right.” Contentious debate rang through the halls of Congress for four days, but on April 6, Congress complied with the president’s request. The United States declared war on Germany. 








CHAPTER 2:
  JOHN J.  PERSHING 


May 28, 1917, was a miserable day along the shores of New  York Harbor. Mist and fog, occasionally punctuated by bursts of drenching rain, obscured the view of the Statue of Liberty and the city’s famous skyline. Late on that dreary morning, a mysterious party gathered quietly on Governor’s Island. Major General John J. Pershing, recently appointed commander of American forces in Europe, was about to sail off to the Great War. Out of concern that German submarines would hunt down his ship and sink it, Pershing’s departure was supposed to be top secret. The general and his staff even dressed in civilian clothes to avoid detection by German spies. But according to historian Richard O’Connor, the departure “was one of the worst kept secrets of the war.” Rumors of it had swirled around Washington for days, and crates with the general’s name clearly stenciled on them had been piling up on the New York waterfront. At mid-day in cold and steady rain, Pershing boarded a ferry and headed out to the British liner Baltic, anchored in Gravesend Bay off Brooklyn. Unfortunately, the ship was not yet ready to receive him, and Pershing was forced to remain in his ferryboat bobbing up and down in the choppy waters for several hours. As the Baltic  finally pulled out of the harbor just after 5:00  PM, the battery on Governor’s Island fired an ill-advised salute in honor of the general, only further hinting to New Yorkers that something big was afoot. Major James G. Harbord, Pershing’s chief of staff, reflected on “all sorts of wise bromides about bad beginnings making good endings” as the Baltic  finally steamed out into the open Atlantic. 


John Joseph Pershing was born on September 13, 1860, on a farm outside Laclede, Missouri. War touched his life at a very young age. The Civil War raged while he was a toddler, and the border state of Missouri saw some of its worst depredations as Unionists and Confederate sympathizers engaged each other in brutal guerrilla warfare. His father, John Fletcher Pershing, was an ardent Unionist who supplemented his farming income with a general store in Laclede. On the afternoon of June 18, 1864, Confederate raiders under Captain John Holtzclaw entered Laclede “with yells most terrific,” as the local newspaper described it, and plundered the town. Pershing and his father were in the store when the raid began. The elder Pershing grabbed his shotgun, scooped up his three-year-old son, and went out the back door just as the raiders broke into the front. They made their way home and the elder Pershing prepared to take on Holtzclaw’s men. Young Pershing remembered his father aiming his shotgun out the window while his mother begged him not to shoot. “You’ll be killed,” she pleaded, “let the money go.” His father lowered his gun. Union forces arrived and chased Holtzclaw away, but not before two of the village’s citizens had been killed. After the war, Pershing’s father rebuilt his business, acquired more land, and became one of Laclede’s leading citizens until the Panic of 1873 nearly wiped him out. At the age of thirteen, Pershing worked the family farm while his father took a job as a traveling salesman. Farming left little time for education, but the bright and persistent teenager managed to keep up with his schoolwork. As Pershing grew to manhood, he dreamed of becoming a lawyer. He took a job teaching at the Prairie Mound School ten miles from Laclede to support himself and attended classes at the Kirksville Normal School (today’s Truman State University) to build his academic credentials. As a teacher, he gained a reputation as a tough but fair classroom disciplinarian, unafraid to apply a little corporal punishment now and then.


Young Pershing’s world is preserved at the Pershing Boyhood Home State Historic Park in Laclede. The Pershing family moved into this home in 1866, when the future general was just six years old. The interior has been restored to its appearance in the late nineteenth century when Pershing grew from childhood into manhood. The Prairie Mound School House where Pershing once taught has been moved to the grounds as well, and now holds exhibits about his life and career. As a boy, Pershing fished and played along the banks of the Grand River just west of Laclede. Today two Missouri state parks preserve these lands as well. One is Locust Creek Covered Bridge State Historic Park, located just north of U.S. Highway 36. The bridge dates to 1868, and Pershing is known to have gone fishing and swimming there. The other is Pershing State Park, just south of the highway. The 3,500-acre park preserves an unusual fragment of northern Missouri’s pre-settlement habitat, and appears much as Pershing would have seen it during his formative years.


It was the prospect of a free college education that attracted Pershing to the United States Military Academy at West Point. He passed the qualifying tests and was admitted to the class of 1886. Pershing’s grades were unimpressive—French seemed to be the subject that bedeviled him the most—but his hard work and steely discipline won him the respect of his classmates. From the banks of the Hudson, Pershing traveled to the Western frontier for his first assignment, joining the 6th Cavalry at Fort Bayard, New Mexico. He arrived just as the war with Geronimo was winding down. His first “combat” assignment was an expedition to capture an Apache chief named Magnus. The troopers scoured the mountains of Arizona and New Mexico for days unaware that Magnus had already returned to the reservation. Pershing served at several other southwestern posts, including Forts Stanton and Wingate, both in New Mexico. In December 1890, Pershing went north to the Dakotas and played a minor role in crushing an uprising on the Great Sioux Reservation, patrolling the banks of the Cheyenne River in subzero temperatures in search of recalcitrant Native Americans. After a stint as military instructor at the University of Nebraska, Pershing served as an officer in the African American 10th Cavalry Regiment at Fort Assiniboine, Montana. 


Pershing’s footprints are still evident across the West. None of the posts at which he served are still active military bases, though remnants of them are still there, preserved by dedicated state and local historical agencies. Eight miles southwest of Havre, Montana, on U.S. Highway 87 is a state historical marker commemorating Fort Assiniboine, which notes Pershing’s time there. The remnants of the fort are less than a mile south of the marker. Among the buildings still there from Pershing’s time are the officer’s amusement hall and the post library. Montana State University’s Northern Agricultural Research Center now controls the grounds of Fort Assiniboine, which are open to visitors only through tours provided by the Havre Chamber of Commerce. The New Mexico forts can all be visited as well. At Fort Stanton State Historic Site, six miles southeast of Capitan off State Highway 220, the officers’ quarters where Pershing lived still stand, as do several other buildings from Pershing’s time there. The Fort Wingate site is twelve miles southeast of Gallup on State Highway 440. Fire destroyed much of the post in 1896, leaving little that Pershing would recognize, though one can still walk the parade ground. At Fort Bayard, nine miles east of Silver City, nothing but the parade ground remains of Pershing’s time there, but those interested in the First World War will nevertheless want to pay a visit. The Fort Bayard Historic Preservation Society lovingly maintains a museum of post history in the old commanding officer’s quarters on the west side of the parade ground. The museum covers Pershing’s time at the fort, including his work establishing heliograph stations between Forts Bayard and Stanton. The museum also covers Fort Bayard’s time as a hospital. In the early years of the twentieth century, the arid Southwest hosted numerous sanatoria for victims of tuberculosis and other lung ailments. During World War I, Fort Bayard was an army sanatorium for Doughboys who were victims of gas attacks, as well as those suffering from respiratory diseases. (Fort Stanton also served as a sanatorium during the war years, for the Merchant Marine.) The society gives guided tours of the post grounds, which include discussion of Lieutenant Pershing’s years there and the World War I hospital. For those who cannot catch a tour or prefer to explore on their own, the society has also installed signage on the grounds.


Throughout his time in the West, the hard-working Pershing won the respect of his men and attracted the attention of his superiors, most notably General Nelson A. Miles, who brought Pershing back East to serve on his staff. In 1897, the promising young officer took the job of tactical instructor at West Point. It was one of the most disastrous episodes of his career. The cadets did not take well to Pershing’s iron discipline, and called him “Black Jack” because of his service with African American troops. In the face of such resistance, Pershing’s instinct was to clamp down even harder on the rebellious cadets. It was a vicious cycle that made his tenure on the West Point faculty a short one. When the Spanish-American War broke out in 1898, Lieutenant Pershing returned to the all-black 10th Cavalry and headed off to Cuba. The Battle of San Juan Hill near Santiago in July 1898 was Pershing’s first real combat experience, and his stellar performance revived his reputation. Under withering Spanish rifle fire, Pershing rallied his men and led them forward. One observing officer recalled that Pershing was “as cool as a bowl of cracked ice,” and his regimental commander, a Civil War veteran, called him “the coolest and bravest man I ever saw under fire.” The 10th Cavalry played a crucial role in winning the battle, though it was the deployment of Gatling guns—early forerunners of the machine gun—that ultimately carried the day for the Americans. 


Pershing’s feats at San Juan Hill attracted the attention of some notable people, including Colonel Theodore Roosevelt of the famed “Rough Riders,” who was soon to become President of the United States. After Cuba, Pershing took a number of different field assignments 
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General John J. Pershing at his 
headquarters in Chaumont,
 France, 1918. (Courtesy of the
 Library of Congress)



and staff jobs. He saw more combat in the campaign to subdue the Philippines. While in Washington, he met Frances Warren, the daughter of a Wyoming senator. They were married at Washington’s Church of the Epiphany (1317 G Street NW) in 1905. That same year Pershing was appointed military attaché in Tokyo, and was a U.S. observer in the Russo-Japanese War. Pershing had amassed an impressive resume, but promotion was slow. In 1906, President Roosevelt took an unusual step by elevating Pershing from Captain to Brigadier General. Pershing returned to the Philippines for another campaign against the Moros, and served as military governor of Moro Province.


In January 1914 Pershing and his family moved to the Presidio of San Francisco, where the general assumed command of the Eighth Brigade. Having spent years in the Philippines, the Pershing family was glad to be back in the United States. To the children, America seemed like a strange and foreign land. The family enjoyed San Francisco’s many cultural opportunities, including one outing to see Buffalo Bill’s Wild West Show, where General Pershing recognized some of the Native American performers from his days in the Dakotas. Sadly, the family togetherness would not last long. In April 1914, as the revolutionary turmoil in Mexico intensified, Pershing and his brigade were ordered to Fort Bliss, Texas, on the Mexican border. He even met briefly with the Mexican rebel leader, Pancho Villa, before relations between Villa and the U.S. soured (see Chapter 1). As the deployment dragged on, Pershing made arrangements for his family to join him there, but then unimaginable tragedy struck. In August 1915, his wife and three daughters were killed in a fire at their residence at the Presidio. Only his son Warren survived. The tightly controlled disciplinarian wept inconsolably as he made his way from Texas to San Francisco to claim the bodies and bury his family. “Those who knew Pershing well said the tragedy changed him,” wrote biographer Jim Lacy. Already rather diffident, Pershing grew even more withdrawn. “It became increasingly difficult for anyone to break through [his] hard outer shell,” according to Lacy. The Presidio of San Francisco is now a national historic site. A tall flagpole in the center of the Pershing Square on the Presidio grounds marks the site where the home once stood.


Pershing Makes a Name for Himself in Mexico 


Pershing returned to Texas and coped with the pain of his loss by throwing himself into his work—and there was plenty of it. Just before dawn on March 9, 1916, about 500 of Pancho Villa’s men crossed into the United States and headed toward Columbus, New Mexico, three miles north of the border. The main body of raiders approached from the southwest shouting “Viva Villa!” and “Viva Mexico!” After rounding a rocky hill on the outskirts of the village, the column of attackers divided into two wings. One plunged into the streets of the town. The other descended on army camp near the Customs House and train station. A third force came toward the camp from the south along the drainage canal and the road that is now State Highway 11. As dawn broke across the New Mexico desert, Columbus erupted in violence. Villistas looted the Commercial Hotel on Lima Street, shot the proprietor and several guests dead, and burned it to the ground. The raiders also looted and torched the numerous shops and saloons along Broadway. Residents grabbed their guns and fought back, escaped into the desert, or took refuge in the town’s sturdier buildings. Many retreated to the local schoolhouse on North Boundary Street. Others took refuge in the Hoover Hotel at the corner of Broadway and Missouri. 


The 350 men of the 13th Cavalry stationed at Columbus sprang into action. As Villa’s men rode into their camp, the troopers fought back as best they could. Cooks preparing breakfast threw boiling water at them. One defended himself with a baseball bat. Soldiers rushed to the guardhouse to grab their weapons. In one of the most heroic episodes, Lieutenant John Lucas, unable to find his boots in the confusion and early morning darkness, raced into battle barefoot. He positioned four Benet Mercié machine guns and thirty riflemen along the railroad tracks (present-day State Highway 9) on the south edge of town. Looking north into the village, the silhouettes of the raiders
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Hoover Hotel in Columbus, 
New Mexico today. Once a 
refuge for local residents from 
Pancho Villa’s raiders, it is now
 a private residence.



 appeared among the flaming buildings, giving his men excellent targets. Meanwhile, just to the northeast, Lieutenant James Castleman and several dozen riflemen set up positions near the Hoover Hotel and aimed down Broadway toward the raiders. The “Ben-A” machine guns jammed frequently, and the inexperienced soldiers sometimes loaded them incorrectly in the heat of battle, but Lucas and Castleman got the Villistas plundering the town in a murderous crossfire. After an hour and a half, local residents and the cavalry troopers gained the upper hand. A Villista bugler sounded the retreat, and the raiders dashed back into Mexico. 


When it was over, eight soldiers and ten civilians were dead, and much of Columbus was reduced to smoking, bullet-riddled ruins. Villa’s men got away with cash, valuables, and horses, though they lost an estimated ninety men in the process. Villa’s motives for the raid were never clear. Some speculated that he wanted nothing more than revenge for what he saw as American betrayal. Others argue that he was motivated primarily by a need for money and supplies to keep his army going. Still others saw German fingerprints, and speculated that German agents in Mexico urged Villa to attack Columbus to distract the United States from events on the North Atlantic. The debate continues to this day. Some eyewitnesses put Villa in the streets of Columbus. Many historians doubt that he ever crossed the border.


President Wilson ordered 
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Political cartoon of the 
“Mexican Punitive Expedition” 
into Mexico to capture Pancho 
Villa, 1916. (Courtesy of the 
National Archives)



the army to enter Mexico and capture Villa, and selected Pershing to command it. Within days of the raid, a force of 5,000 soldiers gathered at Columbus, and the army post, now known as Camp Furlong, swelled in size. The first elements of the so-called “Mexican Punitive Expedition” crossed the border on March 15, and from the beginning things went awry. Not only was the army unable to find Villa, but the Carranza government strongly objected to the invasion of Mexican territory and refused to cooperate. Carranza denied the Americans the use of Mexican railroads, for example, forcing Pershing to move men and material with cars and trucks on Mexico’s unpaved roads. By June, Pershing was using more than 300 vehicles. It was the first major use of motorized vehicles in U.S. military history, though it was an inauspicious beginning. The army lacked drivers and mechanics, and the vehicles frequently broke down in the desert dust and mud. 


The U.S. Army also used reconnaissance aircraft. The 1st Aero Squadron—the only unit dedicated specifically to aviation—arrived in Columbus on March 15 by train with six aircraft in crates. Under the command of Major Benjamin Foulois, the men immediately assembled their planes and carved a crude airstrip out of the desert east of Camp Furlong. Four days later, Foulois and Major Townsend F. Dodd took off from Columbus in a Curtiss JN-3, nicknamed the “Curtiss Jenny,” and flew thirty miles into Mexico scouting for Pershing’s forces. It was the first time a U.S. Army plane had ever flown in a hostile operation—or over a foreign country. Foulois thought his mission a success, since he was able to report to Pershing that “there were no Mexican rebels within a day’s march of the head or flanks of his infantry and cavalry columns.” But like the army’s motorized vehicles, the aerial operations soon ran into problems. There were mechanical maintenance issues. The engines of the JN-3 were not powerful enough for sustained operations, especially in high elevations of the Sierra Madre Mountains. Desert heat warped the propellers. Crashes were commonplace, and landings in rugged fields and in the valleys of the Chihuahua Desert took their toll on the machines. All of the squadron’s planes soon became inoperable, and the new planes the army sent were not much better. As a result, Foulois lamented, “we never again were able to perform useful field service with Pershing’s forces.” 


By April 1916, the expedition penetrated as far south as Parral, Chihuahua, more than 400 kilometers south of the U.S. border. The Americans fought several skirmishes with Villa’s forces, but were unable to find Villa himself. The cross-border raids from Mexico, which the expedition was intended to stop, continued, such as the attack on Glenn Springs, Texas, in May 1916. (Glenn Springs is now uninhabited, and lies in a remote area within the boundaries of Big Bend National Park.) On June 21, U.S. forces even engaged Carranza’s Mexican regulars at the Battle of Carrizal. By the summer of 1916, Pershing’s forces had grown to nearly 10,000 men. In May, Wilson mobilized the National Guard in Arizona, New Mexico, and Texas to protect the border in case of a full-scale war with Mexico. The following month, he called up units from across the country and sent them to the border. In all, more than 100,000 National Guard troops had been called to duty during the crisis. But neither side
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6th and 16th Infantry Reg-


iments on the march in Mexico,
 January 1917. (Courtesy of the 
Department of Defense)



 wanted war; Washington, in particular, had grown increasingly concerned about the Great War in Europe. Pershing began a gradual withdrawal from Mexico in January 1917. The last Americans departed Mexico on February 5 without ever finding Villa.


There are no monuments or historical markers in Chihuahua to mark the trail of the Pancho Villa expedition. U.S. intervention remains a touchy topic in Mexico, and few south of the border are interested in memorializing it. In 2009, an American named Ron Bridgemon rediscovered the graves of two U.S. soldiers from the Mexican expedition still buried in the cemetery of a remote ranch northeast of Parral (GPS: N 27.07484 W 105.38418). Cities and towns along the U.S.-Mexico border have sought to preserve the memory of the troubles. In the Mexican town of Puerto Palomas, just across the border from Columbus, an equestrian statue of Villa, racing forward with pistol drawn, occupies a small park at the corner of Avenida 5 de Mayo and Zaragoza. Just to the east of the statue, in a shopping plaza catering to American tourists, is another statue, this one of life-sized depiction of Pershing and Villa shaking hands. This portrayal of Villa puts him in a formal military uniform rather than thus typical sombrero and bandoliers. 


The legacy of the Mexican expedition is perhaps best preserved in Columbus. Many of the buildings that played a prominent role in the raid are still there, such as the old school on Boundary Street and the Hoover Hotel, where Lieutenant Castleman set up his machine gun. Many are gone, like the Commercial Hotel, which was never rebuilt. The spot today is just an open space filled with weeds and broken concrete, and marked with an interpretive panel telling of its role in the raid. There are many such panels around town, highlighting the important events and remembering local residents who were killed in them. Several panels are near the old railroad station, which today hosts the Columbus Historical Museum and its exhibits about the raid. The grounds around the museum were the location of the 13th Cavalry’s camp at the time of the raid. Along Highway 11 is a re-creation of the bandstand General Pershing used to review the troops marching back from Mexico in 1917. Also on the grounds is a monument with two bronze plaques. One lists the army dead from the Columbus raid. The other, on the reverse side, lists the civilians killed. 


The grounds of Camp Furlong, on the west side of Highway 11, now make up Pancho Villa State Park. At the park entrance is a spacious museum that presents a comprehensive overview of the raid and consequent expedition from both American and Mexican perspectives. The museum features some interesting displays. Suspended from the ceiling is a Curtiss R2, the type of plane flying out of Columbus at the end of the expedition. Vehicles include an army truck (depicted, appropriately enough, stuck in the mud) from the Four Wheel Drive Auto Company of Clintonville, Wisconsin, and a bullet-riddled civilian automobile that survived the raid. Outside is another unusual vehicle, a Jeffrey Quad Armored Car—the U.S. Army’s first armored vehicle, which was sent to Columbus in 1916 but never saw action. Just outside the museum is Cootes Hill, the high ground around which Villa’s men rode, which then served as Camp Furlong’s lookout post. The hill does indeed give a commanding view of the Mexican border. The park also preserves the Columbus Customs House, as well as a few old brick buildings left over from the camp, protected from the desert sun with corrugated metal shelters. Owing to the expedition’s use of motor vehicles, there are also the remnants of an automotive repair facility. An interpretive sign in the park along Highway 11 notes that Foulois’s airstrip was “just across the highway from this point.” The statement is a little misleading. It was actually about a half a mile to the east of the sign, southwest of the intersection of Kansas and Jones Streets. Now covered with greasewood and mesquite, the site is today owned by a historical organization called the First Aero Squadron Foundation that plans to restore it to its 1916–1917 condition.


In retrospect, the Pancho Villa expedition was not a complete failure. Though Villa was never captured, his forces were dispersed and weakened. The mobilization also gave American military and civilian leaders valuable experience in the planning and execution of operations, which they would need in France months later, including the use of aircraft and vehicles. The expedition also made Pershing the only general officer in the army who had led such a large force in a hostile operation.


America Heeds Europe’s Call 


American entry into World War I in April 1917 came at a crucial moment. On the Eastern Front, Russia’s Czar Nicholas II had been forced to abdicate the month before, and that war-weary nation’s further participation in the war was uncertain. The fragile interim government kept fighting, but the Germans transported the communist revolutionary Vladimir Lenin from exile in Switzerland back to Russia in hopes of destabilizing it. On the Western Front, Germany settled in for the long haul, constructing a long line of formidable defensive positions across France that became generally known as the Hindenburg Line, after the German army’s chief of staff, Field Marshall Paul von Hindenburg. France, by contrast, was still committed to the attack. Just days after the U.S. declaration of war, General Robert Neville, commander-in-chief of French forces, launched a massive assault in the Chemin des Dames region northeast of Paris. It began with British diversionary attacks near Arras early in the month, and then the main French attack came on April 16 between Soissons and Reims. The Neville Offensive was a disaster. In less than a month, France absorbed nearly 200,000 casualties but had barely bent in the German lines. The Poilu, or “hairy one,” as the French World War I soldier was known, had reached the breaking point. Thousands deserted, and in late May and early June entire divisions refused to fight. Often described as a mutiny, the episode is best viewed as “a sort of military strike,” according to historian John Keegan. French troops demanded better food, more leave, and an end to pointless attacks. The French army arrested thousands of mutineers, and even executed a handful of them for effect, but also acceded to many of the soldiers’ demands. General Philippe Pétain replaced Neville, and called a halt to most offensive operations. 


For the Allies, the only glimmer of hope that spring was America’s entry into the war. Within weeks, both Britain and France sent high-level delegations to Washington to begin consultations with their new ally. Foreign Minister Alfred Balfour led the British mission. Former premier René Viviani and Marshal Joseph “Papa” Joffre, the hero of the 1914 Battle of the Marne, represented France. Britain and France did not coordinate their efforts, and in fact sometimes undercut each other, but each had one overarching goal in mind: Get American troops into the trenches as soon as possible. Three years of war had seriously depleted Allied manpower reserves. France had already lost a million men. With America in the fray the Allies now had a vast pool of potential soldiers, though tapping into it proved elusive. The tiny U.S. Army was woefully unprepared and could not deliver troops anytime soon. Raising an army of millions might take years. Infantrymen could be trained fairly quickly, but the Allies expressed concern that an inexperienced American officer corps might lead their men to disaster. By the time America was ready to fight, they feared, Germany might have already won the war. 


Each of the Allies conjured up plans to tap into American manpower. The British proposed that the United States send 500,000 raw recruits to Europe as quickly as possible. Under their plan, the American soldiers would simply be integrated into depleted British combat units and fight alongside the Tommy. Joffre had been thinking along similar lines, but understood that such a plan might offend American pride. He suggested that the United States send recruits to France in small units. The French army would train them and place them into their own divisions. As the number of American troops in France grew, Joffre argued, American units could then be pulled out of French divisions and brought together under an American commander. In the short run, Joffre requested that an American infantry division come to France tout suite to boost flagging civilian morale. He also asked for engineering, medical, and other badly needed specialty units.


The United States agreed to send a combat division and specialty troops as soon as possible, but civilian and military leaders alike argued that the amalgamation of American soldiers into British and French armies was unacceptable. Americans fighting and dying under a foreign flag would be deeply unpopular with the American public, they understood, not to mention with the troops themselves. American officers found suggestions that they might not be up to the job insulting. Amalgamation might also diminish American influence in the final peace settlement. If America was going to live up to President Wilson’s pledge to make the world “safe for democracy,” the United States needed to stand on equal footing with its allies, not as some kind of invisible junior partner. “When the war is over,” warned General Tasker Bliss of the amalgamation schemes, “it may be a literal fact that the American flag may not have appeared anywhere on the line because our organizations will simply be parts of battalions and regiments of [other] armies.” The American insistence on its own independent army in France meant that the effects of U.S. manpower on the Western Front would be delayed. Aside from boosting Allied morale, the American entry into the conflict would have no immediate impact on the battlefield.


Pershing Named to Lead an Army—But First to Build It from Scratch 


The first step in creating the American Expeditionary Force (AEF) that would eventually sail for France was to select its commander. One leading candidate was General Leonard Wood, but his undisguised political ambitions and close association with Theodore Roosevelt made him unpopular with Wilson and Democrats. Thanks to his capable handling of the Pancho Villa expedition, Pershing saw his name go to the top of the list. The first hint of his new job came with a cryptic letter from his father-in-law, Senator Francis Warren, asking about his French language skills. Soon thereafter a telegram arrived from General Hugh Drum, army chief of staff, asking him to select four infantry regiments and one artillery regiment for immediate deployment to France. Drum added: “If plans are carried out, you will be in command of the entire force.” Assuming he was to be a division commander, Pershing selected the 16th, 18th, 26th, and 28th Infantry Regiments, along with the 6th Field Artillery—all of which had served under him in Mexico. “I had scarcely given a though to the possibility of my being chosen as commander-in-chief of our forces abroad,” he wrote in his memoir, but after heading to Washington and meeting with Secretary of War Newton D. Baker, the scope of his assignment became clear. “The thought of the responsibilities that this high position carried depressed me for the moment,” he confessed. “Here in the face of a great war I had been placed in command of a theoretical army which had yet to be constituted, equipped, trained, and sent abroad.” But, he added, “there was no doubt in my mind then, or at any other time, of my ability to do my part.” 


In characteristic fashion, Pershing got right to work planning for the massive endeavor. His first task was to put together a staff. Old friends and acquaintances came out of the woodwork requesting assignments. Pershing wanted only the best with him in France, and often bypassed older officers in favor of younger, more aggressive ones. In one heartbreaking decision, he turned down Teddy Roosevelt’s request to form a volunteer regiment. Pershing was shocked at the appalling lack of military readiness. “It had been apparent to everybody for months that we were likely to be forced into the war,” he wrote, “yet scarcely a start had been made to prepare for our participation.” The army brass had done no serious contingency planning. The National Defense Act of 1916 had authorized a major expansion of the army, but by April 1917 little of substance had been accomplished. American companies had been supplying the Allies with war materials for years, but America itself had no real arms industry. To fight a modern war, the AEF needed mass numbers of artillery pieces, machine guns, and mortars, but the nation had no companies capable of mass-producing them. The embryonic aircraft industry produced planes that by European standards were already obsolete. Few Americans had ever even seen a tank. Even if the United States had had enough weapons, there were not enough ships available to get them overseas. “The deeper we went into the situation,” Pershing wrote, “the more overwhelming the work ahead of us seemed to be.” 


Pershing’s days in Washington were also filled with meetings—at foreign embassies, with the Red Cross, and of course at the War Department. He was especially thrilled to speak with Marshal Joffre, though his admiration for the French warrior did not extend to Joffre’s amalgamation proposal. “I was decidedly against our becoming a recruiting agency for either the French or British,” he declared, and zealously supported the idea of fielding an independent American army. Four days before departing for France, Pershing paid a call on the White House and President Wilson. The meeting was brief and perfunctory. The president expressed confidence in the general and wished him well. Pershing admired Wilson’s “poise and his air of determination,” but was disappointed that he gave little guidance. “I had naturally thought that he would say something about the part our Army should play in the war in cooperation with the Allied armies,” Pershing wrote of the encounter, “but he said nothing.” 


“I will give you only two orders,” Secretary Baker told Pershing, “one to go to France and the other to come home.” The reality was a bit more complex, but Pershing was indeed given broad powers to conduct the war as he saw fit. He was instructed to secure ports, establish lines of communication to the front, and prepare the army for combat. Pershing had complete discretion in battlefield operations. “Your authority in France will be supreme,” said Baker. In dealing with the Allies, Baker told the general to cooperate with them but he also made abundantly clear that “in so doing the underlying idea must be kept in view that the forces of the United States are a separate and distinct component of the combined forces, the identity of which must be preserved.” Pershing hardly needed to be reminded. Indeed, some believe Pershing may have written those instructions himself. 


As the Baltic sailed eastward for England, Pershing and his staff worked feverishly to lay the groundwork for the AEF. He arrived at the Princes Dock in Liverpool on June 8, 1917, and was greeted with much pomp and ceremony. He was then quickly whisked off to London, where he established his temporary headquarters in the Savoy Hotel on the Strand. Among the many calls Pershing made while in London was to Buckingham Palace, where King George V told him, “It has been the dream of my life to see the two great English-speaking nations united in a common cause.” After five days in London, it was off to France. 


Of his landing at Boulogne, Pershing was to remember that “French troops, together with the assembled women and children from the town . . . presented a colorful picture.” He made special note of the soldiers, whose “stripes and decorations indicated that every man had seen service at the front.” His reception in Paris later that day was the most effusive yet. Arriving at the Gare du Nord, Pershing was brought by motorcade to the Hotel Crillon on the place de la Concorde. The route was one long scene of wild celebration. “Every housetop, wall, and window was filled with cheering crowds,” reported the New York Times, “and it seemed everyone was waving an American flag, while cries of ‘Vive l’Amerique!’ became a sustained roar.” “After our arrival at the [hotel] I was again and again forced to appear on the portico of my apartment to greet the dense crowds,” Pershing wrote. “It was most touching and in a sense most pathetic,” he later reflected, “and stirred within us a deep sense of the responsibility resting upon America.”


He set up his headquarters at 27–31 rue Constantine, a stone’s throw from the Hôtel des Invalides, on the Left Bank of the Seine. A home for retired soldiers founded by Louis XIV in 1674, over the years Invalides had evolved into a shrine to French military history, including the tomb of Napoleon himself. A bank, private residences, and the Colombian Embassy now occupy Pershing’s rue Constantine offices. American financier and Paris resident Ogden Mills allowed Pershing the use of his eighteenth-century mansion at 73 rue de Varenne, just a few blocks away from AEF headquarters, as his residence. Pershing enjoyed the “magnificent garden” with its “century old trees,” though he was also gratified that Mills had installed “all modern conveniences.” Just down the street at 79 rue de Varenne, the aging sculptor Auguste Rodin maintained his studios. Pershing’s one-time residence still stands, though it is privately owned and the mansion and gardens are concealed from public view. Rodin’s studios are now the Musée Rodin, and there the traveler can stroll the gardens. 


Hunched over their desks and burning the midnight oil, Pershing and his staff worked out the organization of the AEF. They envisioned a force of a million men. Some in Washington balked at such a figure, but by November 1918 the AEF had grown to twice that number. France and Britain graciously allowed the Americans to use their own military bases and training facilities. Pershing and Allied commanders also had to decide where the American army would concentrate its efforts. The obvious choice to all parties was the southern section of the Western Front, in the Lorraine region of France. The British put primary emphasis on guarding the English Channel ports in northern France that gave them access to the continent. In the center, France desperately wanted to protect its national capital, Paris. Pershing accepted the southern sector gladly, seeing there an opportunity for a decisive American offensive to end the war. He anticipated only limited offensive operations in 1917 and 1918 as the AEF grew in size and experience. To warm up the American war machine, he proposed to reduce the German salient into Allied lines near Saint-Mihiel in 1918. The major push would come in 1919, when U.S. forces would drive into Germany itself, taking Metz and the Saar region. This would cut essential German supply and communication lines, he argued, forcing a German withdrawal from large areas of Belgium and France. It would also deprive Germany of valuable coal and iron-ore resources, unhinging its economy. Coordinated with British and French operations to the north, this offensive would, Pershing believed, force Germany to surrender. In addition to strategic opportunities, the American takeover of the Lorraine sector also made logistical sense. Rather than using the congested roads and rails of northern France, the United States would bring its men and materiel through Atlantic ports like Bordeaux, Brest, and Saint-Nazaire, then transport them across central France.   


 In September 1917, Pershing moved his headquarters to Chaumont, in the Department of Haute-Marne, 280 kilometers southeast of Paris. His stated reason for doing so was to be closer to the Lorraine front where he expected Americans would one day fight. Chaumont, a small city of 15,000, lay near the end of the main American line of communication from Saint-Nazaire, and eighty kilometers behind the Saint-Mihiel salient. Pershing probably had other motivations for the move. “He thought that the newspapers at home and perhaps the French might say that the Americans were enjoying themselves in Paris instead of getting up to the front,” wrote General Johnson Hagood, who added that Pershing “also thought that the bright lights of Paris would divert the officers, soldiers, and clerks from their legitimate duties.” James Harbord, Pershing’s chief of staff, also noted “the constant air of tutelage” from French officials in Paris, and suggested that he personally was glad to move from “the zone of the politicians to the zone of the soldiers.” 
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Chaumont, France by U.S. Army war artist Jules Smith. (From Jules A. Smith, In France with the American Expeditionary Forces, 1919)


Pershing and his staff took over the Caserne de Damrémont, home of the French 109th Infantry Regiment, on the north side of the city. The Château du Val des Écoliers, located in the woods and fields four kilometers south of the city, served as the general’s residence. Chaumont may have lacked the excitement and sophistication of Paris, but Americans still found it charming. “Although the place is small and one could traverse its streets in a morning’s walk,” wrote Jules Smith, an official army war artist, “it has a dignity of architecture, and a distinct quality of ancient loveliness.” “It certainly was a most delightful town,” recalled finance officer S. Herbert Wolfe, “beautifully situated in a rolling section of France, traversed by quaint winding streets and its architecture appealing to Americans accustomed to the monotonous regularity of our buildings.” 


 Today Chaumont has nearly 25,000 residents but has lost little of its charm. American visitors can find several reminders of their nation’s presence there during the Great War. The Caserne de Damrémont is now a police training academy and closed to the public, but a plaque commissioned by the American Battle Monuments Commission is affixed to a building near the main gate. Thousands of Americans served in Chaumont during the war, and several hundred died there, mostly of disease. The dead were buried in the Saint-Aignan Cemetery, less than a kilometer to the southwest of the caserne, on the route de Neufchâteau. The Americans were exhumed and returned to America after the war, but a small memorial at the cemetery still commemorates them. In a park on boulevard Barotte near the central city stands the Monument to Franco-American Friendship. Commissioned by Chaumont and surrounding communities, it was dedicated in 1923 to great fanfare. French President Alexandre Millerand and Premier Raymond Poincaré were on hand for the ceremonies, as were thousands of locals. The New York Times  described the lead-up to the dedication ceremony this way: 


 Throughout the day people from the surrounding towns and many from Paris were constantly arriving, while the roads leading into the town from the countryside and all parts of the Department of Haute-Marne were filled with peasants in carts and vehicles of all descriptions. Some were camping in the streets and squares, and many spent the night in the town’s beautiful park.


The marble sculpture consists of a woman, representing France, holding a French Poilu in one arm and extending the other to a youthful American soldier. Each soldier holds a gun, but careful observers will note that the weapons are lighter in color than the rest of the 
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Monument to Franco-American 
Friendship, Chaumont, France.



statue. During World War II, German occupation forces smashed the guns from their hands. They were replaced in 1973. Should travelers need a place to stay in Chaumont, the  Château du Val des Écoliers, Pershing’s former residence, is today a bed and breakfast. 


 


Pershing and “Open Warfare” 


In late 1917 the war took more dramatic turns. During October and November, the Austro-Hungarians, bolstered by a contingent of elite German troops, smashed through Italian lines in the Alps of northeastern Italy. In this engagement, known as the Battle of Caporetto, the Germans experimented with new infantry infiltration tactics. Elite “storm troopers” punched through the Italian front lines, causing havoc in their rear, softening up their front, and allowing the second wave to sweep the Italians from their positions. German and Austrian forces pushed the Italians all the way to the Piave River and dealt them a devastating blow that threatened to knock Italy out of the war. In November 1917, Vladimir Lenin and the Bolsheviks, as his faction of Russian communists was known, seized power in Petrograd (present-day Saint Petersburg) and began peace negotiations with the Germans. With Russia effectively out of the war, Germany could now concentrate on the Western Front, where French and British armies remained bruised and under strength. As 1918 dawned, German victory was distinct possibility. 


In the wake of Caporetto and the Russian Revolution, the thorny issue of amalgamating U.S. troops into Allied armies resurfaced. British and French diplomats in Washington began raising the issue, and British Prime Minister David Lloyd George cornered Edward M. House, President Wilson’s friend and top advisor, while he was in Paris, about the matter. Wilson and Secretary Baker argued that amalgamation was a military issue and not a political one, and therefore it was Pershing’s decision. The U.S. commander soon found himself face-to-face with Lloyd George and French Prime Minister Georges Clemenceau, who earned the nickname “the Tiger” for his tough determination. Discussions centered on a British proposal that the United States send 150 battalions of raw infantrymen and machine gunners. Britain offered to transport these men to Europe on its own ships, train them, and then attach them to its own divisions. While Lloyd George and Clemenceau badgered Pershing in Europe, their diplomats intensified British and French pressure on Washington. Wilson and Baker began to buckle, and let Pershing know that they would accept some kind of amalgamation plan, but the general remained adamantly against it. In January 1918, the British agreed to Pershing’s counterproposal, the so-called “Six Division Plan.” Under the agreement, the British would to transport six American divisions—infantry as well as artillery and support troops—to France on their own ships. Britain would train these divisions, and they would serve in the British sector, though under American officers and under the American flag. Pershing also stipulated that should necessity demand it, these divisions would be turned over to American control.
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